TECHNICAL PROGRESS REPORT

Batch Experiments on Sodium Silicate Application on Multi-Contaminant Systems

Date Submitted:

April 11, 2016

Principal Investigator:

Leonel E. Lagos, Ph.D., PMP®

FIU Applied Research Center Collaborators:

Yelena Katsenovich, Ph.D. Vasileios Anagnostopoulos, Ph.D. Alejandro Hernandez, DOE Fellow Christine Wipfli, DOE Fellow

SRNL Collaborator:

Miles Denham, Ph.D.

Prepared for:

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Environmental Management Under Cooperative Agreement No. DE-EM0000598



DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States government. Neither the United States government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, nor any of its contractors, subcontractors, nor their employees makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe upon privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States government or any other agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States government or any agency thereof.

Table of Contents

List	of Figuresiv				
List	List of Tablesiv				
1.	Introduction 1				
2.	Objectives 2				
3. M	aterials and Methods2				
	3.1 Soil samples, SRS synthetic groundwater and other stock and working solutions 2				
	3.2 Sorption, desorption and sequential extraction experiments				
	3.3 SEM-EDS analysis 4				
	3.4 Elemental analysis 4				
4. R	esults and Discussion				
	4.1 Kinetic experiments with SRS soil				
	4.2 SEM-EDS analysis of different soil fractions				
	4.3 BCR sequential extraction experiments7				
	4.4 Kinetic experiments with mixtures of pure minerals				
	4.5 Desorption experiments10				
	4.6 Investigation of ion exchange mechanism10				
	4.7 Effect of ionic strength13				
	4.8 Multi-contaminant batch sorption experiments17				
5. Fi	uture Work17				
6. R	eferences17				

List of Figures

List of Tables

Table 1. Procedure of BCR Sequential Extraction (He et al., 2013; Zemberyova et al., 2006) 4
Table 2. Concentration of Fe, Al and Si for each SRS Fraction Followed by Relative Standard Deviation 6
Table 3. Percentage of U(VI) Recovered in each Stage of BCR Sequential Extraction Protocol 7
Table 4. Adaptation of Elemental Composition of SRS F/H Area Background Soil Obtained byMeans of X-Ray Fluorescence (courtesy of Dr. Miles Denham)8
Table 5. U(VI) Removal by each Experimental Set, Followed by the Percentage of U(VI) Released in the Aqueous Phase, as a Result of Contact with SRS Synthetic Groundwater (Desorption)
Table 6. Schematic Representation of the Different Batch Experiments Conducted in Order toInvestigate the Effect of Cations on the Uranium Sorption onto SRS Sediment
Table 7. Ca and Mg Concentrations Detected in the Aqueous Phase Followed by Relative Standard Deviation
Table 8. Al and Fe Concentration Detected in the Aqueous Phase Followed by Relative Standard Deviation
Table 9. Ca, Mg, Al and Fe Concentrations in the Aqueous Phase Followed by Relative Standard Deviation for All the Samples
Table 10. Speciation of U(VI) Soluble Species for All the Calcium Concentrations Studied (as provided by Visual Minteq)

1. Introduction

The Savannah River Site (SRS) was established as one of the major sites for the production of materials related to the U.S. nuclear program during the early 1950s. An estimated 36 metric tons of plutonium were produced during the period of 1953-1988. Since then, SRS has become a hazardous waste management facility responsible for nuclear storage and remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater from radionuclides. The groundwater at the F/H Area Seepage Basins Groundwater Operable Units at SRS was impacted by operations of the Hazardous Waste Management Facilities (HWMFs). Approximately 1.8 billion gallons (7.1 billion liters) and 1.6 billion gallons (6.0 billion liters) of low-level waste solutions have been received in the F and H Areas, respectively, originating from the processing of uranium slugs and irradiated fuel at the separation facilities. The effluents were acidic (wastewater contaminated with nitric acid) and low-activity waste solutions containing a wide variety of radionuclides and dissolved metals. Waste solutions were transported approximately 3,000 feet from each processing area through underground vitrified clay pipes to the basins. After entering the basin, the wastewater was allowed to evaporate and to seep into the underlying soil. The purpose of the basins was to take advantage of the interaction with the basin soils to minimize the migration of contaminants to exposure points. Though the seepage basins essentially functioned as designed, the acidic nature of the basin influent caused mobilization of metals and radionuclides, resulting in groundwater contaminant plumes.

Currently, more than 235 monitoring wells at the site are sampled for a variety of chemical and radioactive parameters. Groundwater monitoring results have indicated the presence of elevated levels of metals, radionuclides and nitrates. Significant chemical differences exist between the groundwater from the two areas. The F Area groundwater contains higher concentrations of dissolved metals than that in the H Area. The constituents of concern (COCs) associated with the F Area HWMF groundwater plume are tritium, uranium-238, iodine-129, strontium-90, curium-244, americium-241, technetium-99, cadmium, and aluminum. The COCs in H Area are tritium, strontium-90, and mercury.

To remove contaminants from polluted groundwater, pump-and-treat and re-inject systems were implemented. Downgrade groundwater within the system would be pumped to a water treatment facility and then re-injected upgrade within the aquifer. This system was disconnected since the process incurred the risk of exposure to workers, generated a secondary waste stream that had to be managed, was expensive, and was both time and labor intensive. In 2004, a funnel-and-gate process was implemented to carry out injections of alkaline solutions directly into the gates of the F-Area groundwater to raise pH levels. This approach allows for the creation of focused treatment zones and chemical stabilization of metals in those zones (*in situ*)

immobilization). The initial addition of sodium hydroxide revealed a subsequent decrease in uranium and strontium concentrations, but the concentration of iodine remained unaffected. Consequently, addition of carbonate solutions was investigated, but this solution eventually raised concerns about the re-mobilization of uranium previously contained within the treatment zone, due to the formation of highly soluble uranium-carbonate complexes. Furthermore, a systematic re-injection of carbonate solution would be required for the sustainability of circumneutral pH values in the treatment zone.

FIU-ARC is conducting research for the replacement of the injection of carbonate alkaline solutions with sodium silicate. Sodium silicate is an alkaline solution that is favorable because it is environmentally benign with moderate to low cost (Baehr & Koehl, 2007).

2. Objectives

The main objective of these studies was to assess whether sodium silicate has sufficient alkalinity to restore the natural pH of the groundwater. Silica solutions have an inherent $pH \le 10$, which complies with the regulatory constraints for injecting solutions of high pH values into subsurface systems. The optimal levels of sodium silicate for the restoration of circumneutral conditions were investigated, taking into account silica solubility levels in order to avoid clogging of the aquifer's permeability. Batch sorption and desorption kinetic experiments were performed, as well as experiments pertaining to soil characterization, in an effort to elucidate the mechanisms and provide further understanding of the process.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Soil samples, SRS synthetic groundwater and other stock and working solutions

Soil samples from the SRS F/H Area were sieved (USA Standard Testing Sieves, Fisher Scientific) and the fractions of mean diameter d<0.063, 0.063<d<0.18 and 0.18< d<2 mm were stored in a desiccator, which contains anhydrous calcium sulfate (Drierite, Drierite Company Inc) until further use .

Synthetic groundwater that mimics SRS groundwater characteristics was prepared according to Storm and Kabak (Storm & Kaback, 1992) by dissolving 5.4771 g CaCl₂, 1.0727 Na₂SO₄, 3.0943 g MgCl₂, 0.3997 g KCl and 2.6528 g NaCl in 1 L of deionized water (Barnstead NANOpure water purification system). One (1) mL of the stock solution was diluted into 1 L of deionized water acidified to pH 3.5 to create the working solution. Sodium silicate solutions were created by dissolving the appropriate amount of Na₂SiO₃·9H₂O (reagent grade, MP Biomedicals) in deionized water. Sodium perchlorate

and calcium chloride solutions were created by dissolving the appropriate amount of NaClO₄ and CaCl₂· $6H_2O$ (Acros Organics, 99+%) analytical grade in deionized water. Similarly, a Sr stock solution was prepared by dissolving the appropriate amount of Sr(NO₃) (Fisher Scientific) in 2% HNO₃. Re-working solutions were prepared by appropriate dilutions from a Rhenium standard for ICP (Fluka Analytical).

3.2 Sorption, desorption and sequential extraction experiments

All sorption experiments were performed by mixing solid (different fractions of SRS soil or mixtures of pure minerals in order to mimic SRS soil composition - Ottawa Sand standard 20-30 mesh by Fisher and $AI_2Si_2O_7 \cdot 2H_2O$ by Alfa Aesar) and SRS synthetic groundwater, resulting in a ratio of 20 g L⁻¹ soil suspensions. Each sample was spiked with the appropriate volume from a freshly prepared sodium silicate solution in order to achieve a final sodium silicate concentration of 70 mg L⁻¹. Preliminary experiments revealed that 70 mg L⁻¹ sodium silicate is the appropriate amount in order to achieve circumneutral conditions. The initial concentration of uranium in all samples was 500 µg L⁻¹, whereas in the case of strontium and rhenium, the initial concentration was 100 µg L⁻¹. Vials were agitated on a platform shaker at 120 rpm and all experiments were performed in triplicate. In order to study the effect of ionic strength, samples were spiked with the appropriate amount of NaClO₄ in order to obtain a final concentration of 0.001, 0.01 and 0.1 M. Similarly, in order to study the potential competition of uranium with calcium as far as sorption is concerned, appropriate amounts of CaCl₂ were added to the samples and a range of 0.00001 to 0.1 M Ca⁺² was achieved.

Desorption experiments were performed by replacing the metal-bearing aqueous phase past the equilibration, by an equal volume of deionized water or SRS synthetic groundwater.

Sequential extraction experiments followed Community Bureau of Reference (BCR) protocol. More specifically, after the initial sorption step, 1 g of the metal-laden solid was suspended in 40 ml 0.11 M CH₃COOH and was shaken at room temperature for 16 h at 120 rpm. The extract was separated from the solid residue by centrifugation for 10 min (5000 rpm) and decanted into a polyethylene container and stored in a refrigerator at 4°C for analysis. The residue was washed with 10 ml of deionized water by shaking for 10 min, centrifuged, and the washings discarded. Step 1 aims to determine the exchangeable and acid soluble fraction of sorbed uranium. The second step involved the suspension of the solid in 40 mL of 0.5 M hydroxylamine hydrochloride (H₂NO·HCl, Alfa Aesar), pH 1.5, acidified with HCl; the extraction procedure was then performed as described above. The goal of step 2 is the determination of the amount of uranium bound to Fe and Mn oxides. Subsequently, the solid was treated with 10 mL of H₂O₂ for 1h at room temperature, followed by a 1-hour treatment with an 85°C water bath, until the reduction of the initial volume to less than 2 ml. Fifty (50) mL of NH₄CH₃CO₂ 1M, pH 2 adjusted with HNO₃ acid, were then introduced. The suspension was shaken for 16 h

at room temperature at 120 rpm and the extraction procedure was repeated, as described above. Step 3 provides information on the oxidizable fraction of sorbed uranium. The residual amount of retained uranium was calculated by subtracting the sum of the fractions mentioned above from the total mass of sorbed uranium (Rauret et al., 1999). The steps are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1	Procedure of BCR S	equential Extraction	(He et al., 2	2013 [.] Zemberv	/ova et al., 2006)
		cquentiai Extraction	(inc ci al., 2		

Target phase	Reagents	Conditions
Exchangeable, water and acid-soluble	40 mL 0.11M CH₃COOH	16 h, room temperature
Reducible (Fe and Mn oxides)	40 mL 0.5M NH ₂ OH-HCI (pH 1.5)	16 h, room temperature
Oxidizable (Organic matter and sulfides)	10 mL 8.8M H ₂ O ₂ , 50 mL 1M NH ₄ CH ₃ CO ₂ (pH2)	1 h, room temperature 1 h, 85°C
Residual	HNO ₃ -HCI digestion	

3.3 SEM-EDS analysis

The morphology and elemental composition of the SRS soil fractions were investigated using scanning electron microscopy equipped with energy dispersive spectroscopy (SEM-EDS) at the Florida Center for Analytical Electron Microscopy located on the Florida International University Modesto A. Maidique Campus. Samples were initially dried in a conventional oven at 30°C for a period of 5 days. Specific amount of each SRS soil fraction was placed on a stainless steel stub and the exact weight was recorded. Any required gold coating was done with an SPI-Module Control and Sputter unit for 2 minutes to produce a thin layer of gold. The SEM system used was a JOEL-5910-LV with acceleration potentials ranging from 10 to 20 kV. EDS analysis was produced using an EDAX Sapphire detector with UTW Window controlled through Genesis software.

3.4 Elemental analysis

The residual uranium concentration in the samples was analyzed by means of kinetic phosphorescence analysis (KPA-11, Chemchek Instruments Inc.). Iron, calcium, magnesium, strontium and rhenium were determined by means of inductively coupled plasma - optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES 7300 Optima, Perkin Elmer). Rhenium (Re) was chosen as a chemical analog of technetium (Tc) under oxidizing conditions, due to their similarities in cationic radius and geochemical behavior (Icenhower et al., 2008).

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 Kinetic experiments with SRS soil

SRS soil was sieved and the fractions of average particle diameter d<63 μ m, 63 μ m<d<180 μ m and 180 μ m<d<2 mm (called fine, intermediate and coarse fraction, respectively from now on) were obtained and stored in a desiccator containing anhydrous calcium sulfate (Drierite, Drierite Company Inc.), until further use. The results of uranium retention by each soil fraction as a function of time are presented in Figure 1.

The establishment of equilibrium is achieved within 24h for the coarse fraction; whereas the equilibrium for the fine and the intermediate fraction is almost instantaneous (equilibrium is achieved within 1h). Furthermore, the uranium removal efficiency at equilibrium varies: 60%, 80% and 100% for the coarse, intermediate and fine fraction, respectively. Despite having used the same amount of mass in each experiment, the surface area among the different fractions varies significantly. Hence, the results were expressed as percent uranium removal and not as q (mg U(VI) sorbed per g of soil). Nevertheless, it is clear that in the case of the intermediate and fine fractions, all of the experimental points in the figure are part of the equilibrium, whereas, in the case of the coarse fraction, there is a gradual increase of uptake up to 24 h.



Figure 1. Uranium removal as a function of time for different fractions of SRS soil.

4.2 SEM-EDS analysis of different soil fractions

A specific mass of each soil fraction was placed on SEM stubs on an analytical scale and the exact mass was recorded. Triplicate samples were prepared for each fraction and EDS analysis was performed in multiple locations of each sample. In Table 2, the elemental analysis of each fraction for Fe, AI and Si is presented.

SRS Soil Fraction	U(VI) % Removed	[Fe] (mg/g)	[Al] (mg/g)	[Si] (mg/g)
d<63µm	99±0.2	89 ± 2	72±4	396±3
63µm <d<180µm< td=""><td>79±8</td><td>70±11</td><td>71±5</td><td>389±4</td></d<180µm<>	79±8	70±11	71±5	389±4
180µm <d<2mm< td=""><td>59±1</td><td>40±4</td><td>54±13</td><td>416±37</td></d<2mm<>	59±1	40±4	54±13	416±37

Table 2. Concentration of Fe, Al and Si for each SRS Fraction Followed by RelativeStandard Deviation

The concentration of Fe differs significantly among the three fractions, whereas the concentration of AI and Si remains statistically the same throughout the fractions. The presence of AI and Si is due to kaolinite and quartz, whereas the presence of Fe is associated with goethite. Table 2 reveals a trend of higher uranium removal when the average particle diameter of the soil decreases. Nevertheless, the increase in uranium uptake could be attributed to two factors: the increase of iron concentration and/or the increase of surface area. It can be seen clearly in the SEM photos of different fractions that the smaller the average particle diameter, the larger the surface area (Figure 2).



Figure 2. SRS soil fraction d<63 μm (left), 63<d<180 μm (middle) and 180 μm<d<2mm (right).

4.3 BCR sequential extraction experiments

The theory behind sequential extraction protocols is that most mobile metals are removed in the first fraction and continue in order of decreasing of mobility (Zimmerman & Weindorf, 2010). In an attempt to provide an internationally accepted sequential extraction protocol, a modified BCR (Community Bureau of Reference or now the Standards, Measurements and Testing Program of the European Commission) sequential extraction procedure was developed (Rauret et al., 1999). This procedure is largely similar to that produced by Tessier (Tessier et al., 1979), with the chief difference in the first fraction of the procedure. Instead of evaluating the exchangeable and carbonate bound separately, the BCR procedure combines both in the first fraction (Ure et al., 1993). The results of BCR sequential extraction for U(VI) sorbed on SRS soil are presented at Table 3.

BCR target phase	U(VI) recovery %
Exchangeable, water and acid soluble	83 ± 7
Reducible form - bound to Fe and Mn oxides	10 ± 1
Oxidizable form – bound to organic matter and sulfides	2 ± 1
Residual	5 ± 4

 Table 3. Percentage of U(VI) Recovered in each Stage of BCR Sequential Extraction

 Protocol

The majority of the uranium that was retained by SRS soil was recovered in the first step of the process, indicating that uranium that is uptaken by the soil is found mostly in acid soluble form. Nevertheless, the preliminary desorption experiments that involved uranium-loaded soil and deionized water (pH 6.5) as a desorbing agent revealed practically no recovery of uranium. These results suggest that sorbed uranium on SRS soil may be re-mobilized only by acidic agents, such as 0.11 M CH₃COOH, that was used during step 1. Ten (10) percent of the total uranium retained is associated with iron oxides, since SRS background soil from the F/H Area does not contain a significant amount of manganese oxides, as can be seen in Table 4. The amount of uranium in oxidizable and residual form was found to be practically zero, given the experimental error. The background soil from SRS F/H Area is a low organic, quartz dominated soil (Dong et al., 2012), hence the experimental results were rather as expected. Typically, metals of anthropogenic activity tend to accumulate in the first three phases and metals found in the residual fraction are metals of natural occurrence incorporated in the crystal lattice of the parent rock (Ratuzny et al., 2008; Tessier et al., 1979).

Mineral phase	SRS F/H area soil percentage (%)
Quartz	92 ± 4
Kaolinite	6 ± 2
Goethite	2.0 ± 0.5
MnO ₂	<0.01

Table 4. Adaptation of Elemental Composition of SRS F/H Area Background Soil
Obtained by Means of X-Ray Fluorescence (courtesy of Dr. Miles Denham)

4.4 Kinetic experiments with mixtures of pure minerals

This set of experiments comprised of 2 different batches: the first contained plain quartz (Ottawa sand, 20-30 mesh) and the second contained 95% of quartz and 5% of kaolinite ($AI_2Si_2O_7 \cdot 2H_2O$), a concentration mimicking the ratio of quartz and kaolinite in the actual SRS F/H Area (see Table 4). The results of the batch kinetic experiments are presented in Figure 3. The kinetic results, including those of the coarse fraction of the SRS soil (180 µm<d<2 mm) for comparison reasons, are presented in Figure 4.

The uranium removal efficiencies of quartz and the quartz and kaolinite mixture at equilibrium are quite close: 16% and 20%, respectively. Results suggest that the presence of kaolinite does not contribute significantly in uranium removal under the conditions studied (pH 6.7, 5% kaolinite in the mineral mixture). In the case of quartz, equilibrium is established within 1 h, whereas in the case of the quartz and kaolinite mixture, equilibrium is gradually established after 3-4 h. The initial slope of the line before the establishment of equilibrium is 3.2 h⁻¹ for quartz and kaolinite and 13 h⁻¹ for plain quartz. The lower uptake rate for quartz and kaolinite, as well as the larger amount of time required to reach equilibrium, may be indications of diffusion phenomena, due to coating of the surface of quartz by fine kaolinite particles. Similarly, the uptake of U(VI) by the coarse fraction of SRS soil was even slower (equilibrium was reached after 24 h). On the other hand, the removal efficiency at equilibrium was much higher (60%). This result suggests that the presence of goethite in SRS soil enhances the U(VI) uptake at circumneutral conditions.



Figure 3. U(VI) percent removal as a function of time for pure quartz and quartz and kaolinite mineral mixtures.



Figure 4. U(VI) percent removal as a function of time for pure quartz and quartz and kaolinite mixtures, as well as SRS soil coarse fraction (180 μm<d<2 mm).

4.5 Desorption experiments

After the establishment of the sorption equilibrium for the mixtures of pure minerals and the SRS coarse fraction, the supernatant was discarded and 10 ml of synthetic SRS groundwater were reintroduced. The new mixture was left to equilibrate for another 24 hours at room temperature and the U(VI) concentration released in the aqueous phase was determined. Results are summarized in Table 5.

	,	
Soil Type	U(VI) % Removal	U(VI) % Recovery
Quartz	16±2	109±13
Quartz and Kaolinite	22±1	99±12
Quartz, Kaolinite, Goethite (SRS soil, 180 µm <d<2 mm)<="" td=""><td>59±6</td><td>61±5</td></d<2>	59±6	61±5

Table 5. U(VI) Removal by each Experimental Set, Followed by the Percentage of U(VI)
Released in the Aqueous Phase, as a Result of Contact with SRS Synthetic Groundwater
(Desorption).

The results indicate that when the mineral mixture comprises of quartz and kaolinite, the amount of uranium removed is much lower compared to the removal percentage of SRS background soil. This suggests that goethite is the most reactive mineral phase towards U(VI) under circumneutral conditions, as discussed above. Furthermore, the amount of U(VI) sorbed is quantitatively released in the aqueous phase, upon contact with SRS synthetic groundwater in the case of quartz and quartz and kaolinite mixture. On the other hand, desorption was significantly less in the experiments with SRS background soil, which contains goethite as well, indicating that goethite contributes to stronger binding of U(VI). Possible reasons contributing to higher U (VI) sorption and lower desorption may be the higher surface area provided by goethite particles, as well as Fe-U(VI) interactions (Cornell & Schwertmann, 2003; Jolivet et al., 2000).

4.6 Investigation of ion exchange mechanism

In order to investigate if ion exchange is involved in the retention of U(VI) by SRS background soil from the F/H Area, different sample sets were prepared: batch experiments were conducted in the presence of sodium silicate (pH ~6.5) and without sodium silicate (pH ~3.5), as well as with and without uranium. The purpose was to track the amount of Ca, Mg, AI and Fe in the aqueous phase in the presence and absence of uranium to investigate if they affect the removal of uranium. The different sample sets are summarized in Table 6.

Code	U(VI), 0.5 ppm	Sodium silicate (70ppm) amendment	Medium	рН
A	Х		SRS GRW	3.5
В	х	x	SRS GRW	6.5
С			SRS GRW	3.5
D		х	SRS GRW	6.5

Table 6. Schematic Representation of	the Different Batch E	operiments Conducted in
Order to Investigate the Effect of Catio	ns on the Uranium So	rption onto SRS Sediment

In Table 7, the average concentration of Ca and Mg in the aqueous phase is presented, followed by the standard deviation for all samples (A-D). A comparison of the concentration of Ca and Mg reveals that there are significantly greater concentrations of these cations in the supernatant solution compared to the composition of synthetic SRS groundwater. This result suggests that amounts of Ca and Mg could leach from the soil into the aqueous phase, despite the fact that calcium and magnesium oxides comprise a very small fraction of SRS sediment. Furthermore, results suggest that the amount of calcium and magnesium in the aqueous phase is not pH dependent, since the pH at code samples A and C is 3.5, whereas at code samples B and D, the pH value is 6.5 (sodium silicate amendment). Similarly, the presence of uranium in the samples does not seem to affect the amount of magnesium in the aqueous phase (code samples C and D do not contain uranium). Uranium removal for the code A samples (pH 3.5) was found to be zero while for code B samples (pH 6.5), the uranium removal was found to be 60 \pm 4%, consistent with all of our previous experiments. On the other hand, a small difference in the amount of calcium released in the aqueous phase was observed in the presence of uranium, implying that there may be some limited ion-exchange between calcium and uranium during uranium sorption. Finally, there seems to be no difference between the different time intervals (day 1 and 2), something rather expected since, in previous kinetic experiments, the equilibrium was found to be established in less than 24 hours.

In Table 8, the average concentration of AI and Fe in the aqueous phase is presented, followed by the standard deviation for all samples (A-D). The presence of AI and Fe in solution can be traced back to the soil composition (kaolinite and goethite, respectively), since SRS synthetic groundwater does not contain any of these elements.

		Α	В	С	D
Day 1	Ca (ppm)	2.2 ± 0.1	2.6 ± 0.3	1.8 ± 0.1	1.7 ± 0.1
	Mg (ppm)	0.8 ± 0.01	0.8 ± 0.03	0.70 ± 0.01	0.70 ± 0.02
Day 2	Ca (ppm)	2.1 ± 0.3	2.0 ± 0.1	1.7 ± 0.01	1.6 ± 0.04
	Mg (ppm)	0.72 ± 0.01	0.71 ± 0.04	0.67 ± 0.01	0.68 ± 0.03
SRS.GRW	Ca (ppm)	0.50 ± 0.03 0.35 ± 0.01			
	Mg (ppm)				

 Table 7. Ca and Mg Concentrations Detected in the Aqueous Phase Followed by Relative

 Standard Deviation

Table 8. Al and Fe Concentration	Detected in the Aqueous	Phase Followed by Relative
	Standard Deviation	

		Α	В	С	D
Day 1	AI (ppm)	0.71 ± 0.08	0.66 ± 0.07	0.66 ± 0.09	0.56 ± 0.1
	Fe (ppm)	0.32 ± 0.1	0.39 ± 0.01	0.28 ± 0.1	0.41 ± 0.2
Day 2	AI (ppm)	0.51 ± 0.04	0.44 ± 0.05	0.51 ± 0.01	0.42 ± 0.1
	Fe (ppm)	0.12 ± 0.09	0.25 ± 0.1	0.13 ± 0.03	0.20 ± 0.1
SRS.GRW	AI (ppm)	0			
	Fe (ppm)	0			

The levels of iron and aluminum are similar across all the groups at day 1, indicating that the leaching of iron and aluminum into the aqueous phase is not pH dependent and is not affected by the presence of uranium in the aqueous phase. On the other hand, the levels of iron and aluminum during the second day, although similar across the samples, are lower than the respective values of the first day. A possible explanation for this pattern may be the secondary precipitation of iron and aluminum at the respective pH values.

Finally, identical batch experiments (pH 3.5 and 6.5 after sodium silicate amendment) were carried out, but instead of using SRS synthetic groundwater, deionized water

(DIW) was introduced in the samples. In the sorption experiments of U onto SRS sediment in deionized water with and without the addition of sodium silicate (pH 3.5 and 6.5, respectively), U(VI) removal was very similar when compared to the experiment with SRS synthetic groundwater: at pH 3.5, removal was zero, while at pH 6.5, removal was $64\pm7\%$. This implies that the presence of several cations in the SRS synthetic groundwater, like Na⁺, K⁺, Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, has little or no interference with U(VI) sorption onto the sediment. The amount of calcium, magnesium, aluminum and iron leached from the sediment in the aqueous phase (DI water) is summarized in Table 9.

	рН 3.5	pH 6.5
Ca (ppm)	2.7±0.3	2.8±0.2
Mg (ppm)	0.75±0.2	0.72±0.1
AI (ppm)	0.40±0.03	0.44±0.01
Fe (ppm)	0.24±0.08	0.36±0.1

Table 9. Ca, Mg, Al and Fe Concentrations in the Aqueous Phase Followed by RelativeStandard Deviation for All the Samples

4.7 Effect of ionic strength

The experiments were conducted to bring 400 mg of SRS soil of mean particle diameter 0.18<d<2mm in contact with 20 ml of SRS synthetic groundwater pH 3.5 bearing 500 ppb of U(VI). Seventy (70) ppm of sodium silicate was added to achieve circumneutral conditions and then different quantities from stock solutions of CaCl₂ and NaClO₄ were added in order to achieve the desired electrolyte concentrations. The concentrations of CaCl₂ and NaClO₄ were 0.001, 0.01 and 0.1 M. Control samples (no addition of electrolyte) were also studied, which already contain a concentration of CaCl₂ 10⁻⁵ M. The results are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5. U(VI) percent removal as a function of electrolyte concentration using CaCl₂ and NaClO₄ (x-axis is in logarithmic scale). Error bars represent relative standard deviation.

The retention of cations from mineral surfaces is frequently described by the surface complexation model. Surface complexation involves the formation of direct bonds between metal cations and surface –OH groups and/or O atoms and comprises of two different types of complexes: the outer-sphere complexes and the inner-sphere complexes (Wu et al., 1999). In the case of inner-sphere complexation, the ions are bound directly to the surface site (Figure 6). On the other hand, in outer-sphere complexation, the ion is presumed to bind to the surface site by chemical bonds without losing the hydration shell, meaning that the water molecule is located between the ion and the binding site (Figure 6). The distance to the surface is larger and the bond strength is weaker in comparison to inner-sphere complexation (Worch, 2015). Outer-sphere complexation, which takes place in the double layer (as opposed to inner-sphere complexation, which takes place charge. The double layer decreases with ionic strength (electrolyte concentration) increase and, hence, outer-sphere complexes are presumed to be susceptible to coulombic interactions (Sherwood Lollar, 2005).



Figure 6. Example of inner-sphere complexation (left) and outer-sphere complexation (right), as adapted by Sigg and Stumm, Aquatic Chemistry (Sigg & Stumm, 2011).

lons that form outer-sphere complexes exhibit reduced sorption with ionic strength increase whereas ions that form inner-sphere complexes are usually not affected by the fluctuation of ionic strength (Bachmaf & Merkel, 2010). The removal of U(VI) by SRS soil remained unaffected when ionic strength was adjusted with the addition of NaClO₄, implying that U(VI) removal under the conditions studied may be mainly attributed to the formation of inner-sphere complexes. NaClO₄ was chosen because it is an inert electrolyte: it exhibits practically no complexation with metals present in the aqueous form and the sorption of ClO_4^- on oxide surfaces is minimal (Morales et al., 2011; Zebardast et al., 2014). Similar results were reported by Guo (Guo et al., 2009) who found that the sorption of U(VI) on goethite was insensitive to the fluctuation of ionic strength, adjusted with NaCl.

On the other hand, removal decreases significantly with the increase of calcium chloride concentration. The speciation of the soluble U(VI) species under the conditions studied is presented at Table 10 (10⁻⁵ M CaCl₂ is the concentration of SRS synthetic groundwater, without any further addition of calcium chloride). The speciation for most species remains the same across the range of concentrations studied, with the exception of the percentage of the $Ca_2UO_2(CO_3)_3$ and $(UO_2)_3(OH)_5^+$ species, between 0.01 and 0.1 M CaCl₂ concentrations. Nevertheless, the decrease in the uranium removal across the wide range of concentrations studied is not likely to be largely dependent on speciation. A possible explanation for the reduced removal at high calcium chloride concentrations may be the competition of calcium ions and uranium complexes for the same or neighboring binding sites, resulting in a reduced uranium sorption. The uptake of calcium by goethite has been documented in literature and it has been found that calcium binds on goethite both as an outer- and inner-sphere complex (Rahnemaie et al., 2006; Rietra et al., 2001) based on the following scheme: =SO-Ca⁺ (Sverjensky, 2006), where S stands for the solid surface and O is the oxygen atom. Goethite may constitute only a small fraction of SRS soil; nevertheless, it is very reactive towards metal cations in the solution. Taking into consideration the results of Guo (Guo et al., 2009) who showed that when ionic strength is adjusted with NaCl, U(VI) sorption on goethite remains the same, it may be concluded that high calcium

concentration plays an important role in inhibiting U(VI) sorption on SRS soil in circumneutral conditions. As calcium concentration increases (0.1M), the decrease in U(VI) sorption is even more sharp (from 40% down to 18%), perhaps due to the formation of $Ca_2UO_2(CO_3)_3$, which may not be available for further complexation by the binding sites. Nevertheless, that does not seem to be the case for low calcium concentrations: uranium removal was found to be 59 ± 6% and 64 ± 7% when sorption experiments were performed in synthetic SRS groundwater ($Ca^{2+} 10^{-5}$ M) and deionized water, respectively.

CaCl ₂ concentration (M)				
10 ⁻⁵	10 ⁻³	10 ⁻²	0.1	
47.3%	46.9 %	44.5 %	21.7 %	
(UO ₂) ₃ (OH) ₅ ⁺	(UO ₂) ₃ (OH) ₅ ⁺	(UO ₂) ₃ (OH) ₅ ⁺	(UO ₂) ₃ (OH) ₅ ⁺	
14.5 %	14.8 %	15.6 %	13.5 %	
UO₂OH⁺	UO₂OH⁺	UO₂OH⁺	UO₂OH⁺	
4.1%	4.0%	3.6 %	1.3 %	
(UO ₂) ₄ (OH) ₇ ⁺	(UO ₂) ₄ (OH) ₇ ⁺	(UO ₂) ₄ (OH) ₇ ⁺	(UO ₂) ₄ (OH) ₇ ⁺	
7.8 %	8.0 %	8.4 %	7.7 %	
UO ₂ H ₃ SiO ₄ ⁺	UO₂H₃SiO₄ ⁺	UO₂H₃SiO₄ ⁺	UO ₂ H ₃ SiO ₄ ⁺	
18.7 %	18.4 %	17.3 %	12.3 %	
UO ₂ CO ₃	UO ₂ CO ₃	UO ₂ CO ₃	UO ₂ CO ₃	
5.6 %	5.5 %	5.2 %	3.7 %	
$UO_2(OH)_2$	$UO_2(OH)_2$	$UO_2(OH)_2$	$UO_2(OH)_2$	
		1.9 % Ca ₂ UO ₂ (CO ₃) ₃	34.4 % Ca ₂ UO ₂ (CO ₃) ₃	

Table 10. Spe	eciation of U(VI)	Soluble Species	for All th	e Calcium	Concentrations	Studied
		(as provided by	Visual Mi	nteq)		

Experiments with elevated calcium and magnesium concentrations will be repeated using $Ca(NO_3)_2$ and $Mg(NO_3)_2$ as electrolytes, in order to investigate the effect of the counter-ion (Cl⁻ versus NO₃⁻) in the process.

4.8 Multi-contaminant batch sorption experiments

In this set of experiments, the liquid phase contained 0.5 ppm of U(VI), 0.1 ppm of Sr and 0.1 ppm of Re. U(VI) removal was found to be $59\pm5\%$, whereas there was zero retention of strontium and rhenium. Rhenium under oxidizing conditions is found as perrhenate (ReO₄⁻) and can be used as a chemical analog for technetium (TcO₄⁻). Pertechnetate is highly soluble, does not sorb onto sediments and migrates at the same velocity as groundwater (Kaplan et al., 1998). Hence, the experimental results for rhenium were rather expected. Strontium has similar physicochemical properties with calcium and although calcium has been reported to be retained by goethite (Rahnemaie et al., 2006; Rietra et al., 2001; Sverjensky, 2006), no such behavior was observed for strontium under the conditions studied.

5. Future Work

Future work will include the determination of the surface area of different SRS soil fractions and normalization of U(VI) retention per area unit. Furthermore, desorption experiments will be performed on the intermediate and fine soil fraction of SRS soil in an effort to compare recovery among different SRS fractions and provide better understanding of the role of Fe concentration and area in U(VI) retention across a range of particle sizes.

6. References

- Bachmaf, S., Merkel, B.J. 2010. Sorption of uranium(VI) at the clay mineral-water interface. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 63(5), 925-934.
- Baehr, C.H., Koehl, W. 2007. Soluble silicates highly versatile and safe. *International Journal of Applied Science*, 133, 88-94.
- Cornell, R.M., Schwertmann, U. 2003. *The iron oxides. Structure, properties, reactions, occurences and uses.* Wiley-VCH GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.
- Dong, W., Tokunaga, T.K., Davis, J.A., Wan, J. 2012. Uranium(VI) adsorption and surface complexation modeling onto background sediments from the F-Area Savannah River Site. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(3), 1565-71.
- Guo, Z., Li, Y., Wu, W. 2009. Sorption of U(VI) on goethite: Effects of pH, ionic strength, phosphate, carbonate and fulvic acid. *Applied Radiation and Isotopes*, 67(6), 996-1000.
- He, Q., Ren, Y., Mohamed, I., Ali, M., Hassan, W., Zeng, F. 2013. Assessment of trace and heavy metal distribution by four sequential extraction procedures in a contaminated soil. *Soil & Water Research*, 8(2), 71-76.

- Icenhower, J.P., Martin, W.J., Qafoku, N.P., Zachara, J.M. 2008. The geochemistry of technetium: a summary of the behavior of an artificial element in the natural environment. PNNL.
- Jolivet, J.P., Henry, M., Livage, J. 2000. *Metal oxide chemistry and synthesis*. John Wiley and Sons Ltd., Paria.
- Kaplan, D.I., Parker, K.E., Kutnyakov, I.V. 1998. Radionuclide distribution coefficients for sediments collected from borehole 299-E17-21: Final report for subtask 1a. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory.
- Morales, J.W., Galleguillos, H.c.R., Hernández-Luis, F., Rodríguez-Raposo, R. 2011. Activity Coefficients of NaClO4in Aqueous Solution. *Journal of Chemical & Engineering Data*, 56(8), 3449-3453.
- Rahnemaie, R., Hiemstra, T., van Riemsdijk, W.H. 2006. Inner- and outer-sphere complexation of ions at the goethite-solution interface. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 297(2), 379-388.
- Ratuzny, T., Gong, Z., Wilke, B.-M. 2008. Total concentrations and speciation of heavy metals in soils of the Shenyang Zhangshi Irrigation Area, China. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 156(1), 171-180.
- Rauret, G., F. Lopez-Sanchez, J., Sahuquillo, A., Rubio, R., Davidson, C., Ure, A., Quevauviller, P. 1999. Improvement of the BCR three step sequential extraction procedure prior to the certification of new sediment and soil reference materials. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 1(1), 57-61.
- Rietra, R.P.J.J., Hiemstra, T., van Riemsdijk, W.H. 2001. Interaction between Calcium and Phosphate Adsorption on Goethite. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 35(16), 3369-3374.
- Sherwood Lollar, B. 2005. Environmental Geochemistry. Elsevier Science, Italy.
- Sigg, L., Stumm, W. 2011. Aquatic Chemistry. Vdf Hochschulverlag, Zurich.
- Storm, R.N., Kaback, D.S. 1992. SRP Baseline Hydrogeologic Investigation: Aquifer Characterization, Groundwater Geochemistry of the Savannah River Site and Vicinity (U). Westinghouse Savannah River Company, Savannah River Laboratory.
- Sverjensky, D.A. 2006. Prediction of the speciation of alkaline earths adsorbed on mineral surfaces in salt solutions. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 70(10), 2427-2453.
- Tessier, A., Campbell, P.G.C., Bisson, M. 1979. Sequential extraction procedure for the speciation of particulate trace metals *Analytical Chemistry* 51(7), 844-851.

- Ure, A.M., Quevauviller, P., Muntau, H., Griepink, B. 1993. Speciation of Heavy Metals in Soils and Sediments. An Account of the Improvement and Harmonization of Extraction Techniques Undertaken Under the Auspices of the BCR of the Commission of the European Communities. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 51(1-4), 135-151.
- Worch, E. 2015. *Hydrochemistry: Basic Concepts and Exercises*. De Gruyter, Berlin, Germany.
- Wu, J., Laird, D., Thomson, M. 1999. Sorption and desorption of copper on soil clay components. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 28, 334-338.
- Zebardast, H.R., Pawlik, M., Rogak, S., Asselin, E. 2014. Potentiometric titration of hematite and magnetite at elevated temperatures using a ZrO2-based pH probe. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 444, 144-152.
- Zemberyova, M., Bartekova, J., Hagarova, I. 2006. The utilization of modified BCR three-step sequential extraction procedure for the fractionation of Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn in soil reference materials of different origins. *Talanta*, 70(5), 973-8.
- Zimmerman, A.J., Weindorf, D.C. 2010. Heavy Metal and Trace Metal Analysis in Soil by Sequential Extraction: A Review of Procedures. *International Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 2010.